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PRIVATE 
1946tc  \l 2 "1946"PRIVATE 

PRIVATE 
And the winners weretc  \l 3 "And the winners were"

In 1946 Gordon Grant of Saginaw was in his second year as district president and Bob Walker of Grand Rapids was secretary. At the February 23 contest in Saginaw, 28 quartets participated, and the contest hit a new high in enthusiasm, hospitality and number of participating quartets. Everyone came home with high praise for the way the affair had been planned and carried out. Winners of the contest were the ACOUSTICAL PERSECUTIN' FOUR of Jackson (Francis Hodgeboom, tenor; Bob Breitmayer, lead; Forrest Comstock, bari; Fred Foster, bass) as the new district champions, the FOOD CITY FOUR of Battle Creek, second, the CONTINENTALS of Muskegon, third, the PROGRESSIVE FOUR of Detroit, fourth and the AMERICANAIRES of Flint in fifth place.


The international convention was held in Cleveland on June 13‑17, 1946, and the Michigan quartets to reach the finals were the CLEF DWELLERS of Oakland County (Wiseheart, Hannah, Johnston and Bauer), the DETROITERS (Weber, Eason, Hallman and Wolff), and the GARDENAIRES (Danic, Rubert, Miller and Tubbs). Elected to the International Board from the Michigan District were Edwin S. Smith of the Wayne Chapter (elected earlier in the year to fill a vacancy), C.W. Coye of Muskegon, Roy Harvey of Muskegon, Bill Otto of Pontiac, and Luman Bliss of Midland. In the Achievement Award category, Charlevoix was awarded first place in Group 1 (1 to 10,000 population), Muskegon and Oakland County were given honorable mention in Groups 2 (10,001 to 50,000) and Group 3 (50,001 to 150,000) respectively. The chapter Achievement Awards were based on community service, extension of chapter and society activities, inter-chapter relations, and development of quartets and choruses.

PRIVATE 
Choruses began to appear on the scenetc  \l 3 "Choruses began to appear on the scene"

In perusing the early Harmonizers from 1943–1947, one begins to see many hints of choruses developing among the chapters. For example, the Detroit Metropolitan area chapters banded together to form a Metropolitan Chorus as early as 1944. Other chapters throughout the United States were also adopting choruses, although quartetting was by far the most important at that time. Even O.C. Cash came out in favor of the development of choruses in a report to the International Board in 1946. He called it the best development since the Society came into existence in 1938. He urged that this phase of chapter activity be emphasized, especially with regard to chapters just being organized. In his report to the International Board at Cleveland, O.C. said: “I wish there were some way to prepare a folio with at least two or three medleys which have been successfully used in other chapters. This would be just a sample to start the chorus and then the director could build up his own arrangements.”


In the August 1947 Harmonizer Roscoe Bennett reported, as follows: “The chorus movement has definitely taken over all Michigan and this common​wealth is singing energetically in harmony . . . There are more than 15 choruses now going full blast in this state. The latest to take form is that in Detroit. There are choruses functioning in Grand Rapids, Traverse City, Adrian, Ludington, Holland, Hamtramck, Marcellus, Jackson, Royal Oak, Ionia and the Great Northern composed of Gaylord, Charlevoix, Boyne and others in that region . . . Maybe a chorus contest and championship is not too far in the future.” (Maybe Roscoe was a seer as six years later his prognostication came true.)


PRIVATE 
1947tc  \l 2 "1947"
PRIVATE 
Changes are inevitabletc  \l 3 "Changes are inevitable"

At the midwinter convention held in Omaha on January 17, 1947, the board approved a new system of international quartet sectional preliminaries, increasing the number of preliminary areas from four to eight. This time Michigan was chosen as one of the eight areas for the preliminary contests, and the number of quartets that were to go on to international was based on area membership as of March 31, 1947, with at least one quartet from every area. The preliminaries in each area were to be held May 9, 10, 11, 1947 with different judges for each. Some other changes were mandated by the Board, including dates of chapter and district annual meetings, and sixteen members were required not only to charter but to maintain a charter. Up until 1947, only eight members were required for a chapter charter.


The eighth annual district contest was held in the Kellogg Auditorium in Battle Creek on February 17, 1947. The Saginaw Chapter's BARONS OF HARMONY took the championship (Howard Heath, Chuck Sarle, Bill Oursler and Jarv Albro). Next came the CLEF DWELLERS of Oakland County, the TRAVELERS of Grand Rapids, the CONTINENTALS (formerly of Muskegon, then Whitehall Chapter), and the TOWN CRIERS of Kalamazoo. Twenty‑six quartets competed in the morning, and fifteen competed in the finals. The retiring champions, the ACOUSTICAL PERSECUTIN' FOUR received a certificate for “championship behavior” from District President Bob Walker. Kellogg Auditorium was a sellout for the evening finals.


Bob Walker was district president in 1947 and Howard Heath of Saginaw was the secretary. Extension work in Michigan and Ontario was the outstanding achievement of the year. Dr. M. J. Kennebeck of Muskegon was named by Walker to head a committee for entertainment of veterans in hospitals. This group arranged for a statewide plan for participation by chapters. The international preliminaries were held in May of 1947 in Jackson. The Michigan quartets which survived the eliminations to get into the international finals were the ANTLERS of Flint, the CLEF DWELLERS of Oakland County, the CONTINENTALS from White Lake and the GARDENAIRES from Garden City. The BARONS OF HARMONY from Saginaw was selected as the alternate quartet.


At the 1947 annual meeting held at Grand Rapids, Walker was re-elected president and Dr. Kennebeck was named secretary. It was during this year that the Michigan District, consisting of the Lower Peninsula and the eastern part of the Upper, was created.


The international convention and contests were held in Milwaukee June 13‑15, 1947. Four of the Michigan District quartets ended up as finalists, including the ANTLERS, the CONTINENTALS, the CLEF DWELLERS and the GARDENAIRES. At the International Board meeting, Edwin S. Smith from the Wayne Chapter was elected a vice president of the Society, and Willis A. Diekema of the Holland Chapter was elected an international board member. The Jackson Chapter won first place in the Achievement Awards for the 30,000–99,000 population group with Saginaw receiving an honorable mention. Mt. Pleasant and Marcellus also received honorable mentions in their respective groups. The decision was also made to hold the next international convention in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, in 1948.

PRIVATE 
Bill Diekema's arrangement of “Keep America Singing” introduced to Societytc  \l 3 "Bill Diekema's arrangement of “Keep America Singing” introduced to Society"

One of the highlights of the Milwaukee convention was the introduction of our present Society theme song, “Keep America Singing,” which was authored, composed, and arranged by Willis A. Diekema of the Holland Chapter. It was sung at the quartet finals on June 14, 1947, for the first time by the Milwaukee Chapter Chorus under the direction of Tom Needham. According to the August 1947 Harmonizer: “It is a highly interesting commentary that two men, Frank Thorne and Bill Diekema, each responding to his own independent thinking that the Society slogan `Keep America Singing' should be expressed in harmony, simulta​neously composed two worthy and entirely different type songs bearing that title. In a Society of our magnitude there is plenty of room for both, and any chorus might well include the two in its repertoire.” The Diekema arrangement was adopted later as the official Society arrangement, with the only alteration being the addition of the second verse and entitling it “Keep the Whole World Singing.” In this way the original first verse, which Diekema had objected to changing, was kept intact. This was accomplished by action of the International Board at its midwinter meeting in January of 1991. It was also discovered many years later at our international headquarters that three other arrangements with the same name were in the archives by other composers. The slogan must have been popular.


PRIVATE 
1948tc  \l 2 "1948"
PRIVATE 
International decisions affect districtstc  \l 3 "International decisions affect districts"

The International Board in their meeting at Pittsburgh in January 1948, made some decisions affecting our chapters and district. The Achievement Award Program was relegated to the individual districts. District constitutions were revised so that district officers can be chosen from any member chapter, rather than only from the membership of the district board as was done in the past. The international convention for 1949 was awarded to Buffalo, to be held June 10‑11. With the continued growth of the Society, eleven regional preliminaries were set up for 1948 for May 1‑2, 1948. Forty quartets were to be qualified, with the number of quartets to be determined by their membership count as of March 31, 1948. Michigan's contest was held in Flint on May 2.


Kalamazoo hosted the Michigan District contest on February 21, 1948. Something new was added to this quartet contest with the addition of new championships, Michigan senior, Michigan junior and Michigan novice. The first was for quartets which had gone places before. The second was for quartets which had tried but never placed and the third was for quartets that never tried before. It attracted a lot of attention at this convention. The winners of the contest were the ANTLERS of Flint (Harry Morton, Byron Brooks, Bill Schindler and Hap Augsbury). The CLEF DWELLERS was a close second again in another of the many “duels” between these two fine quartets in district and international competition.


Many new problems faced the Michigan District at their annual meeting held in Flint on May 1, 1948. Additional revenue was needed to carry on the work of the district secretary's office. Edwin S. Smith of Wayne was elected district president, Roy S. Harvey of Muskegon vice president, Horace F. Conklin of Battle Creek, treasurer, and Louis R. Harrington was named district secretary. Under Ed Smith's leadership, the district executive board on August 7, 1948, reorganized the district and subdivided it into areas, each headed by an area governor. A second vice presidency was created, and Leonard Field, of Jackson, a member of the International Board of Directors, was elected to the office. During this time the district boasted 65 chapters and a total membership of 2,837.

PRIVATE 
Five quartets allotted for 1948 Internationaltc  \l 3 "Five quartets allotted for 1948 International"

The international preliminary was held on May 2, 1948. Because of our large membership we were entitled to five quartets at the international contest and 22 quartets competed for these places. The five chosen were the AETNA-AIRES of Bay City, the ANTLERS of Flint, the FOUR COUNTS of Oakland County, the GARDENAIRES and the LEFT OUT FOUR of Marcellus. The first alternate was the CLEF DWELLERS and the second alternate the PROGRESSIVES. The AETNA-AIRES were not able to go to Oklahoma City, and the CLEF DWELLERS took their place and became the only alternate quartet in history to wind up a medalist third-place winner at the international. The CLEF DWELL​ERS, up to this time, were only the third district quartet to win a medal. The ANTLERS and the GARDENAIRES were finalists at Oklahoma City.


The district was now holding two meetings a year. Grand Rapids, hoping to lure a large slice of the 2800 members of the district, extended every effort to make the annual district contest on December 18 the most attractive. Cecil H. Fisher, president of the Grand Rapids Chapter, pointed out that the Grand Rapids Chapter intended to provide every entertainment possible to make the visit and contest the most enjoyable. The Michigan District at its May meeting had voted to change the date of its conclave from February to December, and the Grand Rapids Chapter extended the first invitation.


The district contest was held in Grand Rapids in December, and the new state champs were the CLEF DWELLERS from Oakland County (Dick Wiseheart, tenor; Duncan Hannah, lead; Bill Johnston, baritone, and Hal Bauer, bass). In second place was the SONGMASTERS from Lansing (Hawkins, Bottom, Winegardner, McAttee), and in third place the COLLEGIANS of Grosse Pointe (Limburg, Burrell, Avram, Winship). Fourth place went to the BARONS of Wayne (Arthur, LeBaron, Truesdell, Ed Smith) and fifth place was taken by the NOTE-ORIOLES of Muskegon. This was the first contest in which awards were made to the junior and novice quartet champs. The junior champs were the HARMONIACS of Holland and the winner of the Novice Award was THE MEN OF ACHORD of Saginaw. The evening's entertainment included the Grand Rapids Chapter Chorus which was under the direction of Frank B. Goodwin.

PRIVATE 
District “Area Governors” introducedtc  \l 3 "District “Area Governors” introduced"

As mentioned earlier, 1948 was the year that district areas were estab​lished; and the first area counselors, then called “governors”, were Cliff Davis of Ann Arbor, Rush Wyman of Lansing, Harold Gibbs of Bay City, Loton Willson of Boyne City, Steadman Rohn of Ludington, C. W. Coye of Grand Rapids, D. L. Barnhart of Kalamazoo and Mark Roberts of Grosse Pointe.

PRIVATE 
Disquieting developmentstc  \l 3 "Disquieting developments"

Mark Roberts, in his Michigan District and Its Men of Harmony made the following comments concerning the membership trends during the late forties. We have felt much of it has significance in today's barbershopping world.


“The district reached its peak in number of chapters and members in 1947. In 1948 there was a sufficient loss of members to indicate that our singing brotherhood was not destined to go on forever showing a favorable balance of member-gains over losses. Just as we had shown a steady membership gain for several years, we now commenced a decline. The shattering of our barber​shopper's euphoria, to which we had become accustomed, was rather shocking. For a few years, at least, it seemed that chapter success and membership gains came automatically with the receipt of a charter, and charters could be had for the asking. There was a multitude of joiners, attracted to the fun organization with the funny name; and, for a couple of years, the boys at Tulsa were really swamped with requests for information on how to join, organize a chapter, etc. It seemed that everyone wanted to get in on the fun, although some of the early enthusiasts had only a vague idea of what a barbershop quartet might be and no idea whatever of the distinguishing characteristics of barbershop harmony. It cost practically nothing to join in those days (the writer paid two bucks and swore he was being robbed) and, if nothing else, Society membership provided a status symbol for the musically uncultured.


“While this whimsical attitude toward the Society by both its members and outsiders was one of its early attractions, it also produced a state of extreme confusion because no one had any idea where we were going or, at any given time, where we were. The confusion ended with the appearance of administrators, such as Carroll Adams, who couldn't abide the happy chaos which prevailed. With the end of confusion came controls, disciplines, rules and regulations and, of course, the collection of dues.


“All this business-like approach meant that the organization was now taking itself somewhat seriously, and we began to talk of improving our singing and instituting programs designed to make the barbershopper more proficient in the art. We even went as far as making barbershop singing more palatable to the world of orthodox music. Surely there was and is no reasonable basis to oppose the improvement of our music or to oppose a business-like administration of Society affairs; but, just as surely, Society membership lost its attraction for uncounted thousands of American males who, as singers, like their barbershop renditions straight, uncomplicated, unpracticed and casual. They are of the cult of fun, song and fellowship and, for better or for worse, they are lost to the Society forever simply because modern barbershop singing has become a precise, sophisticated art, the mastery of which requires concentration, discipline and much practice.


“While there are possible solutions to other problems involving member​ship losses, there can be no turning back or turning from the course we have chosen, even if we wanted to, because it involves basic concepts of the Society's purposes and the status of our music. So, let us shed a small tear for those carefree irresponsible days when we sang barbershop solely for the fun and satisfaction we obtained from it and without concern for its musical status or the status of the Society under whose auspices we performed. Because of the simplicity of barbershop harmony at that time, it qualified as a form of American folk music, but the Society's success in improving this form of harmony singing and making it more sophisticated has removed it from this category. Some old timers contend that we have improved barbershop harmony beyond recognition and that what we are now doing is not `barbershop' at all. Under either the old or new concepts, barbershop singing was and remains the greatest hobby ever conceived. It is the happiest recreation, the most complete diversion and, as practiced by our Society, it is unsurpassed as a vehicle for fellowship and fraternalism.”
PRIVATE 
The beginning of the middle yearstc  \l 3 "The beginning of the middle years"

During the late forties, much thought and work was devoted to improving the Society structure and establishing the proper area of interest of the internation​al, the districts and the chapters. Our contest and judging rules and procedures were completely revised and quartet clinics, to evaluate the performance of quartets in contests, first came into use. Michigan men, led by Ed Smith and Carroll Adams, were deeply involved in all these programs and the Michigan District was still riding the crest.


PRIVATE 
1949tc  \l 2 "1949"
PRIVATE 
The rules changetc  \l 3 "The rules change"

New judging rules, which were approved at the midwinter convention in Toledo in January, set up a system whereby quartets will carry their scores with them, so that their score in the 15 quartet finals will be the total of their semi-finals and finals score, and the rating of the medalist contestants will be the combined scores obtained in the semi-finals, finals, and medalist contests. Up until that time previous scores were not used in determining the champions.


One other aspect of the rules adopted provided that every number or medley sung in the contests must be entirely different from those previously used in the various convention contests. In other words, a quartet getting into the medalist contest must, by the end of each contest, have sung six different numbers. Other rules were instituted, too numerous to dwell on here.


The Michigan District still had five members on the International Board in 1949. In addition to Carroll Adams, who was the resident secretary for the Society and Ed Smith of the Wayne Chapter who was a vice president on the Executive Committee, there was Leonard H. Field of Jackson (term expired in June of 1951), Willis A. Diekema of Holland (term expired in June of 1950) and Roy S. Harvey of Muskegon (term expired in June of 1949). All of these men contributed immensely to the success of the Society at that time. B. F. (Monty) Marsden was elected to the board in 1949 replacing Roy S. Harvey in June and Ed Smith was replaced as vice president on the Executive Committee in June of that year.


The 1949 regional contest was held in Detroit at Cass Technical High School and the district meeting at the Sheraton Cadillac Hotel. New district officers elected were C.W. Coye of Grand Rapids, president; Frank Brown of Lansing and Mark Roberts of Grosse Pointe, vice presidents; Lou Harrington, secretary, and Horace Conklin of Battle Creek, treasurer. It was at this meeting that the district officers voted to impose a 50-cent per capita levy for the first time. It is interesting to note that the international per capita dues at this time were only $3 per member.


Eighteen quartets vied for the four spots the district was allocated in the regional contest held on April 30 and May 1. Emerging to win the right to represent the district were the ANTLERS, the CLEF DWELLERS, the GARDENAIRES, the SONGMASTERS, with the DETROITERS as the alternate quartet. 

PRIVATE 
We placed well at 1949 international conven​tiontc  \l 3 "We placed well at 1949 international conven​tion"

The international contest was held in Buffalo in early June of 1949, and Michigan quartets stunned the barbershopping world by placing three in the top five medalist positions and one additional in the finals. The CLEF DWELLERS from the Oakland County Chapter finished second to the International Champion MID STATES FOUR from Chicago. The ANTLERS from Flint finished third, and the SONGMASTERS from Lansing finished fourth. The GARDENAIRES finished in the top ten, adding to the district record.

PRIVATE 
Ben Landino presents first International Quartet Championship Traveling Trophy at Buffalotc  \l 3 "Ben Landino presents first International Quartet Championship Traveling Trophy at Buffalo"

One other Michigan historical event occurred when Ben Landino, of the Grosse Pointe Chapter, presented the new International Quartet Championship Trophy to the International Champion MID STATES FOUR, at the Buffalo convention. The trophy was to be held each year by the Society's champions who passed it on at the end of their reign. Landino was a master craftsman in shaping sheet bronze, and Al Steiner, also of the Grosse Pointe Chapter, did the engraving. This trophy, which became known as the Ben Landino trophy, was passed on until the international contest in Kansas City in 1989, at which time it was retired. The nine quartets who preceded the MID STATES FOUR as Society champions had their names engraved on the trophy, so that when the trophy was retired, the names of the first fifty quartet champions were inscribed on the trophy. The trophy is now resting in the Society's Heritage Hall Museum at international headquarters in Kenosha, as a sincere tribute to Ben Landino. He also designed and handcrafted the International Chorus Trophy, the story of which will be related later on in this history.


The 1949 Michigan District Quartet Contest was held on October 15, 1949, at the Frederic Pease Auditorium on the Michigan Normal College Campus in Ypsilanti, with Ed Smith as general chairman, and sponsored by the Ypsilanti and Wayne Chapters. The winner was the INTERLUDES (Luman Bliss, tenor; Bill McIntire, lead, Ralph Hand, baritone, and Chet Payne, bass) from Midland, and they were crowned our 1949‑1950 District Champions. In second place was the MEN OF ACHORD (Maurice Melcher, Jack Keane, Emil Franz Jr. and Adam Kipfmiller) of Saginaw, and in third place was the SONGMASTERS of Lansing. The NOTE BLENDERS (Swanson, Eby, Cannon and Dubrul) from Oakland County walked off with the Novice Crown. Among the other 13 quartets that competed in this contest, it is noted the intriguing and impressive personnel listing of the LANSING ES​QUIRES which was Buffington, Buffington, Huntington and Huntington. This should be worth some sort of prize in any barbershop contest. It is interesting to note also that the prices for the early sessions of the contest were 50 cents per person and $1.20 for the evening session, which included tax.


As Mark Roberts noted: “Perhaps we should award more prizes, particularly to quartets which overcome obstacles of various kinds to be able to compete. I recall one such effort by a talented group which not only had the tools to take top honors but also had the temporary advantage of my genius as a coach. The five of us with a coterie of rooters, boarded a bus in Detroit and headed for the district contest scheduled for that evening. One of the quartet members sat in the rear of the bus with some jolly friends who produced a bottle of Old Uncle Jed's Cream of the South, or something like that, which was 100 proof on the label—but probably 120 proof inside. After a few belts from Old Uncle Jed, our quartet boy was higher than John Glenn ever got and with prospects of staying in orbit much longer. At this point the other members of the quartet took him in hand for purposes of resuscita​tion. Their efforts were reasonable enough at the start but became more frantic as our destination and contest time grew closer. They opened the bus windows and let the cool breezes blow on him; at every stop they walked him around the bus; in town they plied him with coffee, gave him emetics and would have used a stomach pump if one could have been found. Finally, a cold shower and more fresh air exercises were tried. By this time our friend, instead of being another victim of Old Uncle Jed's concoction, was coherent, reasonably steady on his feet and actually in better condition than the other members of the quartet who were exhausted by their labors. They made it on stage, however, and managed a third place finish which was very good under the circumstances.”
PRIVATE 
New district constitution adoptedtc  \l 3 "New district constitution adopted"

The district meeting, which was held in conjunction with the contest, resulted in the adoption of a new district constitution, which made several changes in the district set‑up. Under the plan adopted, delegate's terms of office will begin on July 1, and a House of Delegates was provided. The Board of Directors will now consist of ten area governors (now are called area counselors, but were called area governors then), plus the six officers of the Executive Committee. The area governors were to be elected at a caucus of their respective districts. The six officers of the District Executive Committee consisted of the president, two vice presidents, the international board member, the secretary and the treasurer. The complete list of all the areas set up under the revised 1949 constitution were as follows:


AREA GOVERNOR
CHAPTERS

Area 1
Robert Yerkes
Dearborn, Detroit, East Detroit,


NorthvilleGrosse Pointe, Hamtramck, Milford, Mt. Clemens, Northville, Pontiac, Northwest Detroit, Oakland County, Redford, Wayne

Area 2
E. B. Therkelson
Adrian, Ann Arbor, Milan, Monroe,


Belleville
Hudson, Ypsilanti, Tecumseh

Area 3
Rush Wyman
Albion, Battle Creek, Eaton Rapids,


Lansing
Lansing, Jackson

Area 4
Harold Damm
Chesaning, Flint, Gratiot County,


Corunna
Holly, Lapeer

Area 5
Luman Bliss
Bay City, Clare, Midland,


Midland
Mt. Pleasant, Saginaw

Area 6
Loton Willson
Boyne City, Charlevoix,


Boyne City
East Jordan

Area 7
Ferris Freed


Beulah, Big Rapids, Hart,


Traverse CityLudington, Manistee, Reed City, Traverse City

Area 8
Max Willwerth
Belding, Grand Rapids, Greenville,


Grand RapidsHastings, Ionia, Lowell, Portland, Sparta

Area 9
Tom Straatsma
Allegan, Holland, Grand Haven,


Grand Haven
Muskegon, Whitehall-Montague

Area 10
M. C. Newman
Benton Harbor, St. Joseph,


SturgisDowagiac, Kalamazoo, Marcellus, South Haven, Sturgis, Three Rivers, Vicksburg


Another district historical event of note took place in 1949 when in October of that year, Louis R. Harrington, then district secretary, began publishing what is believed to be the first district publication in our Society. There had been notices and letters distributed to all chapter members previous to this; but this is the first time an organized publication was put out on a bi‑monthly basis and it was named The Michigan Troubadour. Yes, it is the predecessor of our present day Pioneer District Troubadour. In the beginning, copies for each member were mailed to each chapter secretary, and then were distributed at their chapter meetings. The first editions were typed on mimeograph, and were one-sided only. Surprisingly enough, the first issues contained quite a bit of information for the individual member, and although not as news-filled as today's publication, it was a start in the right direction.


As we leave the Forties, it should be obvious to the reader that Michigan played a very important part in our early Society beginnings. It not only was the biggest district (at the end of 1949 there were 72 chapters with over 2000 members), but we were far ahead of all the other districts in terms of administra​tion, leadership, and musical talent. While we only had one quartet champion nationally (HAR​MONY HALLS in 1944), we always placed a number of quartets in the finals and probably had more medalist quartets than any other district up until that time.


PRIVATE 
1950tc  \l 2 "1950"
PRIVATE 
Harmonizer boosts Michigan District imagetc  \l 3 "Harmonizer boosts Michigan District image"

The March 1950 issue of the Harmonizer, which was dedicated to the great Michigan District, contained an article which boasted of Michigan's many contributions to our fine Society over the first ten years, as follows:


“Michigan boasts a ten-year tradition. The annual Parade of Quartets held in Detroit always attracts capacity crowds. The Grand Rapids Chapter's annual Great Lakes Invitational provides the best in quartets and two days of the finest in entertainment for visiting barbershoppers and their ladies. The `Harmony Howl' at Saginaw, an outdoor stag affair held each summer, is a function that promotes good fellowship in that area and draws visitors from the entire district. Holland, Grand Haven, Grosse Pointe, Redford, Wayne and Hamtramck have acquired a reputation for their unusual Ladies' Nights. Sturgis, Pontiac, Owosso, Lansing, Dearborn, Jackson, Kalamazoo, Traverse City and Flint are among the chapters whose Parades have become annual traditional affairs.


“Summer outdoor family picnics staged by Muskegon, Grand Haven, Holland, South Haven, Oakland County and others are popular events. Ludington stages an annual Night of Harmony each summer.”
PRIVATE 
The “Bush League” contest took holdtc  \l 3 "The “Bush League” contest took hold"

Organized in 1945 to promote new quartets, Boyne City's “Bush League” contest is now an annual affair. A reception for visiting barbershoppers and a Sunday morning breakfast are added attractions. The Boyne City novice quartet contest continues to this day, although it was renamed the “Loton C. Willson Bush League Contest and Show,” in 1989 in honor of the founder, who passed away in May of 1990. It is still held on the first weekend in May in Boyne City. Many top quartets from the district have appeared in this contest, including the 1966 International Quartet Champions, the AUTO TOWNERS.

PRIVATE 
Charlevoix Jamboreetc  \l 3 "Charlevoix Jamboree"

Another event in that section of Michigan had become a mecca for barber​shoppers throughout the Midwest over the Labor Day weekend each year. It was the “Charlevoix Jamboree.” It was started in 1943, when Charlevoix (of minimum membership), invited Grand Rapids and Muskegon Chapter members to week-end with them over Labor Day. There was little formal organization, but one Charlevoix member, Dr. Doug Nettleton, had a large basement recreation room and he set this up as headquarters. Somehow they chased out the last dinner guests for the summer at the Beach Hotel and took over their dining room for an impromptu and informal show headlined by the only two out-of-town quartets, the UNHEARD OF FOUR from Muskegon, and the HARMONY HALLS from Grand Rapids. Local Charlevoix quartets filled out the program in great style.


The entire weekend was so genuinely appreciated by all visitors and local members it was decided to do it again the following year. Then followed word-of-mouth praise for the great hospitality of Charlevoix, which resulted in a larger number of western Michigan members plus a goodly number from the Detroit area converging on Charlevoix for the 1944 Jamboree. From this point on it was evident that the Jamboree was to become a fixture in the Society. Out-of-town members increased in numbers significantly.


Charlevoix gave its wholehearted support in making its guests feel at home in a true barbershop community, even to decorating all its light poles with barber-pole striping. Complete homes and cabins were set aside for guests, and one year the entire Beach Hotel was reserved for exclusive use of the barbershop visitors.


Year after year the top quartets of Michigan, including the champion HARMO​NY HALLS came to Charlevoix. In the years 1948, 1949, and 1950, the champion MID‑STATES FOUR cavorted on both stage and street to the enjoyment of hundreds of members and guests. It was a four-day event starting on Friday and concluding on Labor Day Monday. Very few functions anywhere compared at the time with this event. Charlevoix County only has three towns—Charlevoix, East Jordan and Boyne City. Each had a chapter of SPEBSQSA. Under the direction of Loton Willson of Boyne City, the SNOW BELT Chorus was organized, including members of the three chapters. The three sister chapters had succeeded in placing their section among the leaders in Michigan.

PRIVATE 
And choruses began seriously developingtc  \l 3 "And choruses began seriously developing"

As in other districts, many chapters boasted of excellent choruses. Grand Rapids, Jackson, Holland and Gratiot County had fine aggregations. The Metropolitan Detroit Chorus under Tom Needham was probably the largest, having in its roster men from all thirteen chapters. It had appeared at several concerts since it was organized in 1947. The TRI‑COUNTY Chorus (Lapeer, Ortonville, Holly and Flint) were preparing for their debut. Francis Hodgeboom of Jackson, Arthur Farrand of Flint and Bill Diekema from Holland, were among the better-known choral directors in Michigan. Ed Smith; Bill Diekema; Loton Willson; H. O'Reilly Clint, Detroit; John Hill, Lansing; and Len Field, Jackson, gained considerable acclaim as arrangers and composers.


Michigan was proud of its many men who have made valuable contribu​tions to the progress of the Society. It was proud of its many excellent quartets who had distinguished themselves in international competition. There is no doubt Michigan played an important part in the development of the Society in the early years, not only from the music side, but administratively as well.

PRIVATE 
The “Fifties”, a beginning of a new eratc  \l 3 "The “Fifties”, a beginning of a new era"

The regional preliminaries and the annual meeting of the Michigan District were held in Midland, Michigan, on May 6 and 7, 1950. Fifteen quartets vied for the honor of representing the district at the upcoming international convention in Omaha, Nebraska. They were the AETNA-CEMENTERS, Bay City, the ANTLERS, Flint, the CLEF DWELLERS, Oakland County, the COLLE​GIANS, Grosse Pointe, the COSMOPOLITANS, Grand Rapids, the CROW-MATIX, Muskegon, the FLEXIBLES, Muskegon, THE FOUR HURON HOARSEMEN, Ypsilanti, THE FOUR KEYS, Three Rivers, the GARDENAIRES, Detroit, the INTERLUDES, Midland, the MEN OF ACHORD, Saginaw, the NOTE BLENDERS, Oakland County, the PITCH PIPERS, Grand Rapids and the TUNE VENDORS from Dowagiac. From this talented collection, the ANTLERS, CLEF DWELLERS, CROW-MATIX (Warren, Dobb, Hollar and Lund) and the NOTE BLENDERS were selected.

PRIVATE 
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On the administrative end of the meeting, the Board of Directors and the House of Delegates ratified a new standard district constitution which had been approved at the International Board's midwinter convention held in Washington, D.C., January 20‑21, 1950. The “Plan for Uniform District Organization,” after two years of study and a series of revisions, was adopted by the International Board, and binding on all districts, as of May 1, 1950. Under it, incorporation of districts is mandatory, and the plan itself becomes the Constitution and By‑Laws of the district, superseding all previous documents and procedures.


In addition to the ratification of the new district constitution, a resolution was passed providing for the incorporation of the Michigan District as a non-profit corporation under the laws of the State of Michigan. Other by-laws were adopted at the meeting, subject to the approval of the International Board, having to do with the formal name of the district and its territorial limits, the ten areas, establishment of area counselors (formerly known as area governors) for each area to be appointed by the district president, and for proportionate representation for the House of Delegates from each chapter based on membership [the same as it is today]. A sixth by‑law fixes the month of October as the time for holding of the annual district quartet contest. District officers elected at this Midland meeting included President Mark P. Roberts, Grosse Pointe, Vice Presidents Lester Davis of Lansing and Bob Newman of Sturgis, Secretary Lou Harrington, Hamtramck, and Treasurer Clarence Jalving of Holland. C.W. Coye of Grand Rapids became the immediate past president. Roberts stated upon his election as president: “Heck, it was easy! All I promised was no dues, a guaranteed membership increase formula, a tenor procurement program that would provide all the `high C' lyric tenors that we would ever need, and a district championship for every quartet.” Campaign promises like that would even get him elected nowadays.
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Michigan again dominated the big international quartet contest in Omaha on June 7‑11, 1950, when the CLEF DWELLERS, ANTLERS and NOTE BLENDERS finished second, third and fifth respectively behind the champion BUFFALO BILLS. The CLEF DWELLERS and NOTE BLENDERS, both from the Oakland County Chapter, share with the Springfield, Illinois, Chicago and Pittsburgh chapters the rare distinction of having two international medalist quartets in the same year, from the same chapter. This, of course, has happened three more times between 1950 and 1990.


Over the Labor Day weekend, the Charlevoix Chapter hosted the Michigan District Executive Board Meeting, which was attended by the district officers, the area counselors and the Michigan representatives serving on the International Board. The problems of weak chapters were discussed with the Board advocating more area-wide conferences to assist the weaker chapters and to promote membership. The Jamboree itself was a gala event, which included an array of talent both from within and outside the district, including the BARBER‑Q‑FOUR (who were international finalists and Illinois District Champions) and the MID‑STATES FOUR, the 1949 international quartet champions. A show and a concert in the park were featured, along with a costume ball on Sunday evening.


The district contest was held in Pontiac on October 21, 1950, with the headquarters at the Pontiac Hotel and contests at the Pontiac High School. Nothing of particular importance came out of the business meeting except a decision to have a district chorus contest. Seventeen quartets competed in the district quartet contest and the TUNE VENDORS of Dowagiac (Jim McGlynn, tenor; Bert Happs, lead; Tome Grove, baritone, and Bob Mullen, bass) was picked as district champion. The NOTE BLENDERS took second place and third place went to the CROW-MATIX. The ACCIDENTAL FOUR of Oakland County were crowned junior champs (these were four young lads from the Royal Oak High School), and the HARMONY PROSPECTORS from the Sault Ste. Marie Chapter were crowned novice champs.


In December, a concert was given by the Metropolitan Detroit Chorus under the direction of Tom Needham at Music Hall in downtown Detroit. Choruses from Toledo, Pontiac and Milford joined with the Metropolitan Chorus in a 100 voice group.


One other interesting note mentioned in the December 1950, Troubadour, concerned the issuance of a district directory. We don't know if there were any directories issued earlier than 1950, but apparently Secretary Lou Harrington did issue one in 1950. [Searching through all the district files, I have not yet found any copies of these early directories, although we know they were issued.]

